IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Supreme Court Case No. S271049

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent

 \mathbf{v} .

AHMED MUMIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal Fourth District Division One Case No. D076916

San Diego County Superior Court Case Number SCD261780

APPEAL FROM THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

The Honorable Kenneth K. So, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Raymond M. DiGuiseppe State Bar Number 228457 Post Office Box 10790 Southport, North Carolina 28461

Phone: (910) 713-8804

Email: diguiseppe228457@gmail.com

Counsel for Ahmed Mumin
By appointment of the Court of Appeal

Issues Presented

- 1. Did the trial court err by providing a kill zone instruction?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal apply the proper standard of review under *People v. Canizales* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 591 in holding the trial court did not err in providing the kill zone instruction?

Introduction

This Court's opinion in *People v. Canizales* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 591 concerned "the evidentiary basis for applying, and instructing on, the kill zone theory for establishing the intent to kill element of attempted murder." (*Id.* at p. 602.) This case is largely about unpacking the folds within the analysis of *Canizales* for a clearer understanding of the standards that trial courts should apply to determine the propriety of a kill zone instruction in the first instance and the standards that appellate courts should apply in reviewing those determinations on appeal.

This examination of *Canizales* and its progeny brings into focus two main points. First, trial courts must be vigilant in enforcing the constraints this Court set out in strictly limiting the use of the kill zone theory to protect against the "substantial potential" for its abuse in attempted murder prosecutions. Of particular importance is the condition that a kill zone instruction is improper unless the *only* inference that can reasonably be drawn from the evidence is that the defendant acted with the requisite, specialized form of *concurrent* intent to kill.

Second, when a kill zone instruction is challenged on appeal as improper for want of sufficient supporting evidence, the appellate court must review the challenge for what it is—a claim of instructional error—and under the review standards that apply to reviewing such claims. Those standards are designed to ensure that a trial court has properly discharged its fundamental duty to instruct the jury on the applicable law and to concomitantly refrain from instructing it on unsupported or otherwise invalid theories of guilt. Vigilant application of those standards is part and parcel of protecting against the uniquely dangerous risks posed by kill zone instructions.

Anything less risks undermining the important safeguards this Court so carefully established in *Canizales*. And reviewing these claims through the deferential lenses courts wear in addressing garden variety "sufficiency-of-the-evidence" claims, as the Court of Appeal did here, risks effectively insulating from meaningful review all manner of attempted murder convictions secured through clearly improper kill zone instructions.

Canizales is the beacon guiding the right analysis and the right result. Settled principles of appellate review take us the rest of the way, with reversal as the inevitable destination here.

Statement of the Case and Facts

Mumin was convicted of special-circumstance murder (§§ 187, subd. (a),¹ 190.2, subd. (a)(17)), burglary (§ 459), and robbery (§ 211), for allegedly shooting and killing a patron during an armed robbery of a convenience store in San Diego. (3CT 580-581, 585-587, 600.) He was further convicted of two counts of

¹ All statutory citations are to the Penal Code.

willful, deliberate, and premeditated attempted murder of a peace officer (§§ 664, subd. (e)(1) / 187, subd. (a), 189), two counts of assault with a handgun on a peace officer (§ 245, subd. (d)(2)), and two counts of handgun assault (§ 245, subd. (b)), for allegedly attempting to kill two police officers by firing three gunshots from inside a community center room at an apartment complex where he was hiding while police were searching for him. (3CT 588-599.)

On appeal, Mumin principally contended that the trial court prejudicially erred in instructing the jury on an invalid "kill zone" theory of attempted murder liability. The Court of Appeal rejected this contention in a published opinion, *People v. Mumin* (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 36, now the subject of this Court's review.²

The following is a summary of the evidence at trial:

Mumin was implicated as the perpetrator in an armed robbery that led to the shooting death of a patron at an AM/PM convenience store in San Diego on the morning of April 16, 2015, and law enforcement tracked him down at an apartment complex on Winona Avenue two days later. (10RT 2019-2020, 2033-2034, 2041-2043, 2048-2050.) Law enforcement officers from various units of the San Diego Police Department conducted a search of the complex during the early morning hours of April 18th. (11RT 2355-2361, 2366, 2368, 2370, 2375-2376, 2398.) Wearing vests with "police" insignias, the officers moved through the complex in groups over a period of about an hour, conducting "call-outs" at

The assault-with-a-semiautomatic-firearm convictions were vacated as lesser included offenses of the convictions of assault on a peace officer with a semiautomatic firearm. (*Id.* at p. 63.)

apartment units—knocking on doors, announcing their presence, ordering occupants outside, and searching inside—while they looked for Mumin. (11RT 2426-2427.) A helicopter unit hovered above the complex for a portion of this time. (11RT 2390, 2392, 2474-2477; 12RT 2662-2663, 2672.)

As law enforcement was converging on the complex, Mumin pleaded unsuccessfully with a resident to give him a ride "somewhere out of [t]here." (13RT 2906-2918, 2926-2927, 2931-2932.) Stuck inside the complex, Mumin encountered one of the officers, and he ran away seemingly "startled" or "scared." (11RT 2404-2407, 2425-2426.) He had a backpack containing a handgun and some ammunition. (12RT 2715-2717, 2748-2749, 2757.)

Mumin tried unsuccessfully to break into one of the apartments, prompting a call to the police. (12RT 2757-2758, 2775-2776; 2CT 318-329.) Mumin then went to another building across a playground area from this apartment and accessed a community center room on the first floor, below apartment 208. (11RT 2435-2438, 2415, 2417, 2420, 2455; 12RT 2648, 2682-2683, 2777.) The room was accessible by four doors along the front wall. (11RT 2381; 12RT 2698-2700, 2724.) There were no windows and thus no view through this wall. (12RT 2626-2727, 2754.)

The helicopter left the scene by around 2:00 a.m. (11RT 2474-2475; 12RT 2794.) Thereafter, some of the officers conducted a call-out at the unit where the attempted break-in was reported and cleared it. (11RT 2414-2415; 12RT 2647, 2759, 2776.) A resident reported that she had seen the suspect heading towards the community room building. (11RT 2417, 2420; 12RT

2777.) Detectives James Mackay, Luke Johnson, and Marc Pitucci proceeded there. (12RT 2777-2778.)

Mackay approached the front wall of the community room to check the doors (Doors 1, 2, 3, and 4, as sequentially labeled at trial). (11RT 2381-2382, 2494-2495; 12RT 2614-2615, 2724-2726, 2778.) He started with Door 1. (12RT 2495.) Pitucci stayed back about 30 feet, while Johnson stayed back about 25 feet and off to the left. (11RT 2383, 2389-2390; 12RT 2627, 2788, 2791.) Mackay did not knock, and no one announced their presence or said anything else outside the door. (12RT 2612, 2624, 2627, 2794-2795.) It was around 2:43 a.m. (12RT 2685-2686.)

Mackay stood slightly to the right of Door 1 as a safety precaution, extended out his left arm, and touched the door handle in preparing to open the door. (11RT 2495-2497, 2500-2501; 12RT 2615-2617.) As Mackay told it, as soon as he "jiggled" the handle and the door opened slightly, a gunshot rang out and "came through" Door 1. (11RT 2497; 12RT 2616, 2624.) Mackay "spun around" to get out of the way. (11RT 2497; 12RT 2617.) He tripped over a short retaining wall to the right of Door 1 and fell onto the ground. (11RT 2497, 2501-2502.) As he was getting up, Mackay heard two more shots "from inside" the room in "[p]retty rapid fire" succession. (12RT 2618-2620.) From where he had fallen, he stood up and fired three return shots just before or after the third shot was fired from the room. (11RT 2497, 2501-2503; 12RT 2633-2635; 13RT 3003-3004.)

As Johnson described the events, he positioned himself 25 feet back and to "the left of the first door so that [he] was

standing almost in front of Door Number 2" to avoid being in the path of any gunshots that might be fired from behind Door 1. (12RT 2779.) Right after hearing the first shot erupt from the room, Johnson moved to the right of his original position, "completely out of the way to the west" of Door 1 and fired five return shots from there. (12RT 2781-2784, 2788-2789, 2791; 13RT 3003-3004.) Johnson recalled three shots being fired from the room in rapid succession and having returned fire just before or after hearing the third shot. (12RT 2781-2782, 2792.)

No one was struck by the gunfire from the room. (11RT 2504; 12RT 2620-2621, 2784.) Mumin, however, was hit by a bullet in the return fire. (11RT 2389; 12RT 2766.) He was taken into custody without further incident. (11RT 2388; 12RT 2763, 2766.) Inside the community room was a loaded 9-millimeter handgun, three cartridge casings of "hollow point" bullets fired from the gun, and additional ammunition. (12RT 2708-2723, 2748-2752, 2764; 13RT 2947-2948.) The same gun had been used in the AM/PM homicide. (13RT 2954-2959.)

Door 1 showed exterior damage from several bullet strikes but no apparent damage from gunshots fired out of the room, indicating that only the officers' return fire had struck this door. (13RT 2985-2988, 3011-3012.) Door 2 showed interior damage from two bullet strikes fired out of the room, indicating only gunfire from inside the room had struck that door. (13RT 2988-2992, 2997-2998, 3012.) The exit trajectory of the third bullet fired from the room was unknown, although investigators "assumed" one of the doors must have been ajar at one point

during the incident—presumably Door 1—and that this bullet had passed through the opening. (13RT 2995, 3009-3010.) Two of the bullets fired through Door 2 apparently terminated at a metal-door enclosure of a dumpster area across the common space, while the other bullet apparently struck the asphalt in front of the enclosure. (12RT 2703-2707; 13RT 2992-2996, 3009-3011, 3013-3014.) The order of the various shots into and from the room could not be determined. (13RT 3012-3013, 3015.)

Argument

I. The trial court erred in instructing on an invalid kill zone theory of liability.

This Court's opinion in *Canizales* provides the roadmap for analyzing claims of kill zone instructional error, and its clear directions lead straight to the conclusion that the trial court erred in permitting the jury to rely on a kill zone theory.

A. The essential elements and limitations of the kill zone theory

In *Canizales*, the Court began by summarizing the essential elements of a valid kill zone theory. First, "the circumstances of the defendant's attack on a primary target, including the type and extent of force the defendant used," must be "such that the *only* reasonable inference is that the defendant intended to create a zone of fatal harm—that is, an area in which the defendant intended to kill everyone present to ensure the primary target's death—around the primary target." (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 597, italics added.) Second, "the alleged attempted murder victim who was not the primary target was located within that zone of harm." (*Ibid.*) When and "*only* when" the jury finds both to be true, "such evidence will support a finding that the defendant harbored the requisite specific intent to kill both the primary target and everyone within the zone of fatal harm." (*Id.* at pp. 596-597, italics added.)

The Court cautioned that "trial courts must be extremely careful in determining when to permit the jury to rely upon the

kill zone theory," because "under the reasonable doubt standard, a jury may not find a defendant acted with the specific intent to kill everyone in the kill zone if the circumstances of the attack would also support a reasonable alternative inference more favorable to the defendant." (*Id.* at p. 597, italics added.) "Permitting reliance on the kill zone theory in such cases risks the jury convicting a defendant based on the kill zone theory where it would not be proper to do so." (*Ibid.*) The Court emphasized that "[a]s past cases reveal, there is a substantial potential that the kill zone theory may be improperly applied, for instance, where a defendant acts with the intent to kill a primary target but with only conscious disregard of the risk that others may be seriously injured or killed." (*Ibid.*)

In fact, this Court has "repeatedly expressed skepticism over the general utility of a kill zone instruction." (*People v. Thompkins* (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 365, 391.) Such an instruction is "never required" and "can often lead to error," because the standard instructions on any theory of direct liability will ensure the jury makes the requisite findings without the risks. (*People v. Medina* (2019) 33 Cal.App.5th 146, 156;³ accord *People v. McCloud* (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 788, 802.) California is one of the few jurisdictions that even recognizes the kill zone theory,⁴

Review was granted and held here but then dismissed after *Canizales* issued. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.528(b)(1).)

⁴ "[T]he doctrine only exists in a few states and is utilized most prominently in California and Maryland." (Kaitlin R.

which some commentators have advocated should be abandoned given its inherently prejudicial features. (O'Donnell at p. 587; see also https://www.killthekillzone.com/kill-zone-theory.)

The analytical framework established in *Canizales* was designed to assist courts in better navigating the inherent risks. Thus, after emphasizing that permitting reliance on this theory is improper where the evidence "would also" reasonably support an inference that the defendant did *not* act with requisite intent, the Court admonished that "in future cases trial courts should reserve the kill zone theory for instances in which there is sufficient evidence from which the jury could find that the *only* reasonable inference is that the defendant intended to kill (not merely to endanger or harm) everyone in the zone of fatal harm." (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 597, italics added).

B. The origins and development of the theory

At its core, "the intent to kill element must be examined independently as to each alleged attempted murder victim," since the "transferred intent" doctrine does not apply to attempted murder. (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 602, citing *People v*. *Bland* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 313, 327-328.) The doctrine of "concurrent intent" underlying the kill zone theory posits that in acting with the intent to kill one person (the "primary target"), a person may concurrently intend to kill one or more other people around the target by creating a "zone of harm" designed to ensure

O'Donnell, *The Problematic Use of the Kill Zone Theory*, 11 U.C. IRVINE L. REV. 583, 608 (2020) ("O'Donnell").

the death of that person by killing everyone within the zone. (*Id.* at p. 602.) The *Canizales* Court referred to *Ford v. State* (1993) 330 Md. 682—which "first articulated" this theory—and *Bland* for classic illustrations of the concept (*id.* at pp. 602-603), like using "an explosive device devastating enough to kill everyone in the group" when the target is within the group (*People v. Perez* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 222, 232, discussing *Bland*, at pp. 329–330).

The Court cited a series of three cases where it had found the kill zone theory "irrelevant or inapplicable to the facts presented," to contrast it from theories of direct attempted murder liability based on a specific intent to kill each alleged victim. In *People v. Smith* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 733, the Court had upheld two attempted murder convictions against a defendant who just "narrowly miss[ed]" his ex-girlfriend and her infant child in firing a bullet directly at her while she was seated in a car with the baby positioned directly behind her, but based on evidence of the defendant's specific intent to kill them both. (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at pp. 603-604.)

In *People v. Stone* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 131, the Court upheld an attempted murder conviction of a defendant who had no specific target in mind when he fired a gun at a group of ten rival gang members, based on his intent to kill at least *one of them*. (*Canizales, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 604.) The *Stone* theory concerns the "indiscriminate would-be killer" without a specific target (*Stone* at p. 140), whereas the kill zone theory is dependent on a *concurrent* intent to kill *non*-target victims, which cannot exist without a primary target. (*Canizales* at pp. 604, 608-609; see also

McCloud, supra, 211 Cal.App.4th at p. 802, fn. 6 [explaining these two theories "are mutually exclusive"].)

In *People v. Perez*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th 222, the Court held that a defendant's firing of a single shot towards a group of seven police officers and a civilian could support only a single conviction of attempted murder. (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 604.) The evidence did not show the defendant "knew or specifically targeted any particular individual or individuals in the group he fired upon." (*Perez*, at p. 230.) Along the way, the Court admonished that "shooting at a person or persons and thereby endangering their lives does not itself establish the requisite intent for the crime of attempted murder." (*Id.* at p. 224.)

Canizales traced the development of the kill zone theory as an alternative theory of liability based on the earlier articulations of the concurrent intent doctrine in *Bland*, *Stone*, *Smith*, and the Maryland case law that originally developed it. (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at pp. 604-606.) None of these cases recognized the principle annunciated in *Canizales* that this theory must be limited to cases where the *only* reasonable inference from the evidence is the defendant created a kill zone and specifically intended to kill everyone within it in order to kill the target (hereafter the "singular permissible inference rule").

The Court identified as a "helpful basis for a clear and workable test" the general inquiry of Justice Werdegar's dissenting opinion in *Smith*, which asked "(1) whether the fact finder can rationally infer from the type and extent of force employed in the defendant's attack on the primary target that

the defendant intentionally created a zone of fatal harm, and (2) whether the nontargeted alleged attempted murder victim inhabited that zone of harm." (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 606, quoting *Smith*, *supra*, 37 Cal.4th at pp. 755-756.) While this worked as a foundation, "the potential for the misapplication of the kill zone theory" still remained, necessitating "a more clearly defin[ed]" kill zone theory" for future cases. (*Ibid*.)

C. Canizales's new formulation of the theory

The singular permissible inference rule was key to shoring up the deficiencies in the prior formulation of the kill zone theory. Citing *People v. Bender* (1945) 27 Cal.2d 164, 175, the Court emphasized that "when the prosecution's theory substantially relies on circumstantial evidence, a jury must be instructed that it cannot find guilt based on circumstantial evidence when that evidence supports a reasonable conclusion that the defendant is not guilty." (*Canizales, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 606.) In *Bender*, the Court had underscored the trial courts' general duty to inform the jury that, "to justify a conviction" based solely or primarily on circumstantial evidence, "the facts or circumstances must not only be entirely consistent with the theory of guilt but must be inconsistent with any other rational conclusion." (*Bender*, at p. 175; accord *People v. Livingston* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1145, 1167.)

But the Court went on to caution that "even when a jury is otherwise properly instructed on circumstantial evidence and reasonable doubt, the potential for misapplication of the kill zone theory remains troubling." (Canizales, 7 Cal.5th at p. 607, italics

added.) It then restated the singular permissible inference rule in terms of the two-part test adapted from *Smith*—that this theory may be properly applied "only when" a jury concludes that (1) "the only reasonable inference is that the defendant intended to create a zone of fatal harm," and (2) the alleged non-target victim was located within the zone of harm. (*Ibid.*)

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