FILED WITH PERMISSION

No. S271049

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent.

v.

AHMED MUMIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D076916 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD261780 The Honorable Kenneth K. So, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Likewise, Mumin's intent to kill was not negated simply because he could not see Johnson on the other side of Door 2 or did not have actual knowledge an officer was standing there.

Mumin fired his gun towards a courtyard of an inhabited apartment complex where a full-scale police search was ongoing. He had every reason to believe there were multiple officers outside of the community room, in light of his encounter with the detective, the numerous officers that entered the complex minutes after Mumin looked out from a second-story balcony and before he made it to the community room, and the extensive and loud police callouts with the police helicopter overhead. (2CT 309-

⁶ Canizales referred to a modified version of this example not involving the kill zone theory, also noted in *Stone*, in which the bomber does not have a primary target. (Canizales, supra, 7 Cal.5th at p. 608 ["for example, when a terrorist places a bomb on a commercial airliner intending to kill as many people as possible without intending to kill a specific individual"]; Stone, supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 140 ["But a terrorist who simply wants to kill as many people as possible, and does not know or care who the victims will be, can be just as guilty of attempted murder"].) The Court used the example to note "evidentiary bases, other than the kill zone theory, on which a fact finder can infer an intent to kill." (Canizales, at p. 608.)

311; 11RT 2380, 2390, 2392, 2410, 2451-2453; 12RT 2658-259, 2661-2663, 2678-2683, 2685.) In conjunction with Mumin's bullet trajectories at Doors 1 and 2, the two bullets Mumin fired at Door 2, piercing it, and the use of a semiautomatic gun at close range with ample more ammunition, Mumin demonstrated an intent to kill all the officers he believed were on the other side of the doors, in addition to his intent to kill Mackay. Because Johnson was in fact in the kill zone, Mumin concurrently demonstrated an intent to kill Johnson.

Mumin's belief that multiple officers were on the other side of the doors is at least as sufficient as the defendant's imputed belief that people would be inside an apartment as in *Vang* or a commercial plane as in the airplane bomb example. (See Vang, supra, 87 Cal.App.4th at p. 564 [noting additional, other evidence supported intent to specifically kill targets' relatives, and not just people generally, residing in homes].) Here, Mumin's belief that multiple officers were on the other side of the doors and the circumstances of his attack sufficiently supported the kill zone instruction. (People v. Moses (2020) 10 Cal.5th 893, 900 [noting guilt is determined as if facts were as defendant perceived them].) That he did not know for a fact or could not see that Johnson was there is immaterial. (Vang, supra, 87 Cal.App.4th at p. 564 [holding fact specific victim was not present "did not relieve defendants of their criminal attempt to kill him" as proof is deemed sufficient if means used and surrounding circumstances make the crime apparently possible].)

To the extent *Adams* concluded the kill zone theory "imposes attempted murder liability where the defendant intentionally created a kill zone in order to ensure the defendant's primary objective of killing a specific person or persons despite the recognition, or with acceptance of the fact, that a natural and probable consequence of that act would be that anyone within that zone could or would die," it is inconsistent with *Canizales*. (*Adams*, *supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th at p. 1023.) Even so, *Stone*, *Vang*, and even *Canizales* to the extent it cited *Vang* for its formulation, provide sufficient authority that a defendant's absence of actual knowledge about a nontarget victim's presence does not preclude application of the kill zone theory.

In a related contention, Mumin argues that, without knowledge of a "secondary" nontarget victim that is required for a kill zone, there cannot be a "primary" target. (OBM 31-32.) Mumin's claim is again premised on a requirement that he have actual knowledge of the nontarget victim's presence or location. For the reasons discussed, he is incorrect. Further, evidence that Mackay was the primary target was overwhelming in this case. (*Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 608.)

Upholding the kill zone instruction under these facts does not stretch the theory too far. Because the circumstances of an attack inform whether there is an intent to create a kill zone and the scope of that zone, the number of attempted murder convictions are limited by the specific facts of each case.

Applicable here, Mumin's desire to avoid arrest during a police search for him, his deliberate decision to hold onto his loaded

weapon and two loaded magazines, and the location and manner of his attack demonstrated his intent to create a kill zone. In turn, his position behind the doors inside the community room, Mackay opening Door 1, the number of bullets Mumin fired, and the trajectory of his bullets limited the kill zone to the area behind Doors 1 and 2 in which Johnson was present.

Consequently, only two counts of attempted murder are permitted on the facts of this case.

C. Any error would be harmless

Even if the evidence was insufficient to support the kill zone instruction on the attempted murder of Johnson, the error would not have prejudiced Mumin because the evidence was overwhelming as to his intent to kill as many officers as possible, including Johnson, who was on the other side of Doors 1 and 2.

1. Even assuming the kill zone instruction was erroneously given, it did not affect Mumin's attempted murder of the primary target

Preliminarily, any error in instructing the jury on the kill zone theory did not affect the attempted murder of Mackay. The kill zone theory pertained only to Johnson. Modified CALCRIM No. 600 informed the jury first that Mumin was "charged in Counts Four and Five with attempted murder," the counts pertaining to Mackay and Johnson respectively, and required the People to prove Mumin "took at least one direct but ineffective step toward killing another person" and Mumin "intended to kill that person." (2CT 382, 384-385.) Regarding the kill zone theory, the instruction discussed only the attempted murder of Johnson: "In order to convict the defendant of the attempted murder of

61

Officer Luke Johnson, the People must prove that the defendant not only intended to kill the person opening the door, but also either intended to kill Officer Luke Johnson or any other officer outside the door attempting to apprehend him, or intended to kill everyone within the kill zone." (2CT 383.) The instruction further explained, "This theory may only be used to convict the defendant of the attempted murder of Officer Luke Johnson if it is proven that the defendant intended to kill everyone in the zone of fatal harm. It is insufficient that the defendant acted with conscious disregard of the risk that others may be seriously injured or killed by his actions." (2CT 383.)

Consistent with those instructions, the prosecutor argued the kill zone theory applied only to Johnson. (16RT 3839-3840.) As for Mackay, the prosecutor argued to the jury that Mumin had the specific intent to kill the person opening Door 1 and did not rely on the kill zone theory for that offense. (16RT 3828-3829; see 16RT 3837.) Based on the instructions given and the prosecutor's argument, there is no reasonable probability the jury misapplied the instruction by relying on the kill zone theory for the attempted murder of Mackay. (*People v. Lemcke* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 644, 655, citing *People v. Mills* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 663, 677.)

Mumin argues modified CALCRIM No. 600 "provided no guidance on the determination of Count 4," and failed to inform the jury that it needed to adjudicate the charge separately and find an independent intent to kill Mackay. (OBM 60-61.) Mumin overlooks the rest of modified CALCRIM No. 600, as noted. Regardless, the kill zone instruction also required the jury to find

Mumin "intended to kill the person opening the door." (2CT 383.) Thus, the jury was never presented a theory in which Mumin did not intend to kill Mackay, who was opening Door 1, and any error as to Mackay would be harmless under any standard.

2. The alleged instructional error was at most a factual inadequacy that is reviewed under the state standard for prejudice

Even if the trial court erred in giving the kill zone instruction, the error amounted to only a "factual inadequacy" that the jury was equipped to detect. (*Canizales, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at pp. 612-613.) An "instruction on an unsupported theory" is reviewed for prejudice under *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836-837. (*Ibid.*, citing *People v. Guiton* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1116, 1130.) A "legally inadequate theory," however, is reviewed for prejudice under *Chapman*. (*Id.* at pp. 613, 615; *People v. Aledamat* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1, 13 [*Chapman* standard applies where jury is instructed with both a valid and an invalid theory].)

Canizales held the kill zone instruction there was legally inadequate because it inadequately defined "kill zone" as only a "particular zone of harm," it did not direct the jury to consider the circumstances of the attack to determine whether there was an intent to create a kill zone, and the prosecutor incorrectly defined the kill zone as a "zone of fire" or an area in which people "can get killed." (Canizales, supra, 7 Cal.5th at pp. 613-614.)

By contrast, the kill zone instruction here was more specific in that it defined a kill zone as a "zone of fatal harm" and cautioned the jury that the "theory may only be used to convict the defendant of the attempted murder of Officer Luke Johnson if it is proven that the defendant intended to kill everyone in the zone of fata harm. It is insufficient that the defendant acted with conscious disregard of the risk that others may be seriously injured or killed by his actions." (2CT 383.) The instruction thus defined the kill zone to the jury as a zone of fatal harm in which the defendant must harbor an intent to kill everyone and not simply a conscious disregard of the risk of injury or death to others. The instruction also directed the jury to "consider the circumstances of the offense, such as the type of weapon used, the number of shots fired, the distance between the defendant and the alleged victims, and the proximity of the alleged victims to the primary target" to "determine whether the defendant intended to create a zone of fatal harm or 'kill zone' and the scope of any such zone." (2CT 283.)

Consistent with the instruction, the prosecutor correctly defined the kill zone as a "fatal zone" and described the zone as the "fatal funnel" behind Doors 1 and 2. (16RT 3838, 3840, 3842-3843.) She argued Mumin "attempted to kill not only the officer opening the door, but every single officer who was near him, who was there to apprehend him after he was located." (16RT 3843-3844; see 16RT 3839-3840.) She stressed that the "only reasonable conclusion to draw about what the defendant intended when he was cornered in that room with a firearm and two magazines is that when he shot in the direction of those doors, he intended to kill the person on the other side." (16RT 3872.) She reminded the jury that "if there are two reasonable

interpretations, you have to accept the one that points to innocence." (16 RT 3871.) She reiterated that Mumin formed "the intent to kill the officers that are trying to apprehend him. That is the only reasonable conclusion that the evidence supports." (16RT 3873.) Taken together, the instruction and prosecutor's argument correctly informed the jury that it must find that the only reasonable inference from the evidence is that Mumin intended to kill everyone in the kill zone before it may convict him of the attempted murder of Johnson under the kill zone theory.

Contrary to Mumin's contention (OBM 55-56), there was no reasonable likelihood that the jury understood the kill zone instruction in a legally impermissible manner and found Mumin guilty of the attempted murder of Johnson without finding he intended to kill Johnson. (*Canizales, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 613.) For the reasons discussed previously, the prosecutor did not erroneously describe the kill zone theory when she explained that Mumin did not have to actually know Johnson was in the kill zone for the theory to apply. (OBM 54-55.) Accordingly, the appropriate standard for determining prejudice is set forth in *Watson*.

3. Under any standard, the purported error was harmless on the record of this case

Based on the record here, there is no reasonable probability the jury found Mumin guilty of the attempted murder of Johnson based solely on the alleged unsupported theory. (*Canizales*, supra, 7 Cal.5th at pp. 612-613.) But even under *Chapman*'s more stringent standard, the alleged error would be harmless

beyond a reasonable doubt. Under *Chapman*, a reviewing court examines "the entire cause, including the evidence, and considering all relevant circumstances" and "ask[s] 'whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a reasonable jury would have rendered the same verdict absent the error.' [Citation.]" (*Aledamat*, *supra*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 13; *Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 615.)

Here, there was overwhelming evidence Mumin intended to kill the multiple officers he believed were outside the community room, based on the police activity involving numerous officers and loud callouts, Mumin's movements throughout the complex before he hid in the community, his decision to keep 28 bullets on him ready for use, and his firing of three bullets before he was shot himself. (People v. Ervine (2009) 47 Cal.4th 745, 785-786 [finding intent to kill all four officers where defendant's plan to avoid arrest "would require the killing of all officers who were present" and two patrol vehicles each with two doors opened showed defendant was aware of fourth officer despite not firing gun at fourth officer].) Although the prosecutor stated she could not prove Mumin "knew Detective Johnson was standing in the exact position that he was" and that Mumin was "unaware of who was outside those doors" (16RT 3840, 3871), her theory of the case, on the whole, was that Mumin believed more than one officer was outside when he fired his gun. (OBM 58-59.) She argued he knew he was "surrounded by law enforcement," he knew that "specifically, law enforcement officers [were] after him," he had seen groups of four and five officers, and he

"form[ed] the intent to kill the officers that are trying to apprehend him" when he was hiding in the community room. (16RT 3829, 3831, 3873.). (OBM 58-59.)

On this evidence, Mumin "simply want[ed] to kill as many people as possible." (*Stone*, *supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 140; see *Canizales*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 608.) "[A] person who intends to kill can be guilty of attempted murder even if the person has no specific target in mind." (*Stone*, *supra*, at p. 140.) Because Johnson was in fact on the other side door 2, the jury would have concluded Mumin intended to kill Johnson, even absent the kill zone instruction. As in *Ervine*, Mumin needed to kill all officers he believed were present—and not just the one opening the door—to escape. Any error would be harmless under any standard.

Citing *Thompkins*, *supra*, 50 Cal.App.5th at page 400, Mumin argues the relevant prejudice analysis under *Chapman* is ""whether the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely unattributable to the error."" (OBM 57.) This Court held and *Thompkins* recognized that whether an "alternative-theory error" was harmless under *Chapman* "is not limited to a review of the verdict itself. An examination of the actual verdict may be sufficient to demonstrate harmlessness, but it is not necessary." (*Aledamat*, *supra*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 13; see *Thompkins*, *supra*, 50 Cal.App.5th at p. 401 [noting analysis of actual verdict rendered is one application of general *Chapman* standard].) Focusing on the jury's verdict is "only a specific application of the more general reasonable doubt test." (*Aledamat*, at p. 12.) "Finding

beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict is essentially the same as finding the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Id.* at pp. 12-13.)

Accordingly, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in view of the prosecutor's argument and overwhelming evidence establishing Mumin's intent to kill both Mackay and Johnson.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the kill zone instruction was properly given in this case and the Court of Appeal applied the correct standard of review under *Canizales* in reaching that conclusion. The judgment as modified by the Court of Appeal should be affirmed.